I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioner, Paul Shoemaker ("Shoemaker"), is a party to the 

dissolution. Shoemaker was the petitioner in the Superior Court and the 

appellant in the Court of Appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Shoemaker seeks to review the unpublished decision of the 

court of appeals' that was filed on July 15, 2014, a copy of which is 

attached in the appendix. The portion of the decision he seeks to have 

reviewed is the Court of Appeals' analysis and interpretation ofthe SCRA 

set forth in the decision at A-12-15, and its determination that the record 

was insufficient to review whether the trial court abused its discretion by 

restricting Shoemaker's residential time to monitored written 

communication only. A-9-12. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Whether the Superior Courts and the Court of Appeals erroneously 
interpreted the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act when the lower courts did 
not stay the proceedings and did not appoint an attorney in Shoemaker's 
absence. 

1. Whether the stay provisions of §521 are mandatory when a 
service member unrepresented and unable to appear, regardless of 
whether that service member complied with the requirement for a 
stay under §522. 
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2. Whether the 2003 amendments to the SCRA require strict or 
substantial compliance and whether the only Washington case on 
point should be upheld by this court when it is inconsistent with 
well-established case law, the federal legislative intent, and other 
states' interpretation of the federal law. 

B. Whether the court of appeals erred when it held that Shoemaker was 
not entitled to the SCRA protections because he was sick and not on active 
duty. 

C. Whether the trial court's reliance on five factors to restrict Shoemaker's 
residential time under 26.10.191 demonstrates its, and other Washington 
state courts', misinterpretation of the federal law. 

D. Whether the court's decision to continue the trial from March 7 to 
March 14 constituted a stay was therefore an abuse of discretion to set the 
rest of the trial for less than the statutory 90 days. 

IV. STATEMENTOFCASE 

A. Factual background. 

The parties married in Tacoma in 2004, shortly after the birth of 

their son, E.S. During the proceedings, Shoemaker was a member of the 

United States Air Force (USAF) until medically discharged on June 3, 

2013. On March 16, 2006, Shoemaker filed a petition for legal separation 

in Kitsap County and obtained an ex parte order and temporary parenting 

plan in granting him temporary custody ofE.S. CP at 704. Harris 

subsequently filed a dissolution petition in Pierce County. In June 2006, 

the parties signed an agreed order dismissing Harris's Pierce County 

dissolution petition, continuing Shoemaker's legal separation action filed 
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in Kitsap County, and reaffirming the temporary parenting plan. The order 

further stated that the parties were moving Utah to attempt reconciliation. 

The parties then moved together to Utah and Shoemaker was deployed 

overseas shortly thereafter. Ct. App. Opinion at A-2. 

In February 2008, the Kitsap County court dismissed the case for 

want of prosecution. In 2009, the parties and their son moved to Japan 

where Shoemaker was stationed. After approximately a year, Harris 

wanted to end the marriage and tried to file the necessary paperwork to 

return to the United States with E.S. On August 2, 2010, Harris made 

allegations of abuse while Shoemaker was deployed to Kyrgyzstan and 

when Shoemaker returned to Japan, both parties attended counseling 

sessions with Family Advocacy Center (F AC) while they investigated. Ct. 

App. Opinion at A-2-3. 

On September 10, 2010, Shoemaker obtained an ex parte order 

reinstating the dissolution case and the temporary parenting plan. CP at 

705. Harris was free to leave Japan, but could not take E.S. with her. 

When Shoemaker was deployed to Kyrgyzstan, the child resided in Japan 

with Harris. On October 14, 2010 Harris filed a motion to vacate the ex 

parte order reinstating the 5/19/2006 temporary parenting plan, to continue 

the child's placement with Harris, and attempted to obtain an ex parte 

restraining order against Shoemaker, but it was denied. On October 20, 
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2010 Judge Spearman granted a temporary restraining order based on an 

affidavit from Harris' supervisor explaining that an early release of 

dependent was initiated and she would have to leave Japan without their 

son. Ct. App. Opinion at A-3.The order prohibited both parties from 

harassing each other, or disturbing the peace of one another or the child. It 

also prohibited Shoemaker from entering his home in Japan. On October 

25, 2010, the court granted Shoemaker's restraining order request stating 

both parties were restrained and enjoined from removing E.S. from 

Okinawa Japan until further order of the court. At the show cause hearing 

October 29, 2010, the court granted the restraining/enjoining order and the 

motion to vacate the reinstatement order, and issued a temporary parenting 

plan in favor of Harris. Ct. App. Opinion at A-3.This parenting plan was 

granted, at least in part, due to Shoemaker's deployment. Because E.S. 

lived with Harris while Shoemaker was deployed it was considered the 

status quo despite the court's September 10, 2010 reinstatement order 

giving primary placement ofE.S. to Shoemaker. Child support and 

maintenance were reserved. 

Shoemaker's visitation consisted of alternate weekends and split 

holidays. Shoemaker appealed this order, but the court of appeals denied 

discretionary review of the order denying Shoemaker's motion for 

- 4-



reconsideration. By this time, Shoemaker represented himself. Ct. App. 

Opinion at A-3. 

On November 2, 2010 the Air Force's Central Review Board 

(CRB) finished investigating Harris's allegations of abuse. The CRB 

determined Shoemaker had not abused Harris or E.S. and that Harris's 

allegations "did not meet criteria." CP at 419-20. 

In January 2011, Shoemaker failed to return the child after a 

weekend visit. The amount of time is disputed, but the trial court found it 

was nearly two weeks. This single event was the catalyst for most of the 

future rulings in this case. On January 20, 2011, Harris served Shoemaker 

with a motion for contempt and notified his commanding officer. In 

response, the commander issued a Military Protective Order (MPO), also 

known as a no contact order, forbidding Shoemaker from contacting 

Harris or their son because this case was affecting his duties. Ct. App. 

Opinion at A-3. 

A contempt hearing was scheduled for February 11,2011, in 

Kitsap County court. Shoemaker's response stated that he was an active 

duty service member in the USAF and could not take leave to be 

physically present as required but would try to be telephonically present. 

Ct. App. Opinion at A-3-4 
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On February 10, 2011, Shoemaker faxed a letter from his 

commanding officer, confirming that he could not obtain leave, to Harris' 

attorney. The letter was filed with the court the next morning, February 

11, 2011 at I 0:47am. The court, however, proceeded with the contempt 

hearing and entered default judgments against Shoemaker including a 

$5,000 award of attorney fees, an order of child support, and gave Harris 

permission to take E.S. out of Japan. CP at 592-96, 608-609. 

Following the contempt hearing, the Air Force's Central Review 

Board (CRB) finished their second investigation that began in January. It 

found Shoemaker's behavior met the criteria for "adult emotional 

maltreatment" and "child emotional maltreatment." CP at 706, Ct. App. 

Opinion at A-4. On March 10, 2011, Shoemaker was arrested for contempt 

of court. After posting bail, he was booked and released. 

Shoemaker believed that under the UCCTEA Washington was not 

the child's home state and had therefore lost jurisdiction over the case. 

Acting on this belief, he filed for divorce in Utah on March 31,2011. The 

Utah court dismissed the action and agreed that Washington State had 

exclusive and continuing jurisdiction and it was upheld on appeal. 

Shoemaker v. Shoemaker, 265 P.3d 850 (Utah Ct. App. 2011). Petitioner 

also filed two lawsuits in federal district court. One was filed against 

Harris, several Kitsap County judges, multiple Kitsap County employees, 

- 6-



and several other parties based on his belief that he was being treated 

prejudicially and one based on repeated violations of the SCRA. The court 

subsequently dismissed both lawsuits. Ct. App. Opinion at A-4. 

On August 19, 2011, the Kitsap County court granted default order 

compelling Shoemaker to respond to Harris's interrogatories and request 

for production of documents, and also awarded terms. Shoemaker was on 

active duty at the time of the show cause hearing on the motion to compel 

and could not obtain leave. Shoemaker managed to get his mother (Maria

Janet) appointed as a Special power of attorney to appear on his behalf. At 

the hearing, Maria-Janet attempted to inform the court that Shoemaker 

was unable to obtain leave, but she was silenced. The order was issued in 

Shoemaker's absence, and Shoemaker never complied with this order. 

Shoemaker appeared telephonically at the December 7, 2011 settlement 

conference and notice of the trial date was sent to Shoemaker's last three 

known addresses. Ct. App. Opinion at A-4. 

When the trial began on Monday, March 5, 2012, Shoemaker did 

not appear. His mother again informed the court he was currently at the 

McChord Clinic for heart tests and was not allowed to leave. Ct. App. 

Opinion at A-5. The trial court noted it could not verify his whereabouts, 

so the court allowed the case to proceed by default, and Harris testified 

and presented exhibits. Before adjourning for the day, the court informed 
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Shoemaker's mother trial would resume the next morning and Shoemaker 

could either appear or provide verification from military personnel that a 

medical condition had prevented his appearanc~ on the first day of trial. 

Shoemaker did not appear for court the next morning, but his mother told 

the court he was confined to quarters for 48 hours due to "severe medical 

stress." The trial judge confirmed this with Shoemaker's commander. Ct. 

App. Opinion at A-5. 

After speaking with the commander, the trial judge allowed Harris 

to complete her testimony and to admit more exhibits for a total of 47. 

When her testimony concluded, the court continued the trial to March 14 

in order for Shoemaker to follow his military orders and ruled that Harris 

could return to New York and appear telephonically. Ct. App. Opinion at 

A-5, CP-696. 

Shoemaker appeared on March 14 and testified on his own behal£ 

The trial court issued a memorandum decision restricting Shoemaker's 

residential time with E.S. to monitored written communication only. The 

court left the restraining order in place because it found Shoemaker had 

withheld E.S. from Harris in violation of court orders and had stalked, 

intimidated, and harassed Harris. These facts were based on Harris's 

testimony, military no contact orders, and a military investigation. Ct. 

App. Opinion at A-5-6. 
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B. Procedural Background. 

Shoemaker appealed the trial court's decision. The Court of 

Appeals issued an opinion on July 15, 2014 and affirmed the trial court's 

rulings. It held that Shoemaker's absence was due to illness rather than 

active duty and that he did not file the application necessary to trigger 

relief under the SCRA, so it treated the trial court's ruling as a refusal to 

continue the trial. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (3) and 

RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision involves a 

"significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of 

Washington and of the United States is involved" and there is a 

"substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court." 

No citizen shall be deprived oflife, liberty, or property without due 

process of the law. U.S. Const. Amend. 5 and Amend. 14 §1; Wash. 

Const. Art. 1, § 3. At a bare minimum, procedural due process "requires 

notice and an opportunity to be heard." Soundgarden v. Eikenberry, 123 

Wn.2d 750, 768, 871 P.2d 1050 (1994). Congress enacted the 

Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (2003) ("SCRA") and its predecessor the 

Soldiers and Sailors Relief Act (1943) to ensure service members' were 
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not deprived ofthe opportunity to be heard while serving active duty. 50, 

App. U.S.C. §502. To safeguard service membus' rights, the SCRA 

contains provisions for a stay of the proceedings under certain 

circumstances. 50, App. U .S.C. §521-22. When those stay procedures are 

violated, a service member is deprived of their due process. 

A. It is of great public interest that this Court reverses the 
Court of Appeals' decision on the SCRA because 
hundreds of Washington's military residents are denied 
the protection afforded them under SCRA. 

The SCRA applies to any service member on active duty or who is 

absent from active duty because of sickness or a wound. 50, App. U .S.C. 

§511(2)(c); Mark E. Sullivan, A Judge's Guide to the Servicemembers 

Civil Relief Act, 1, available at 

http:/ I apps.americanbar .org/famil y/military/ scrajudgesguidecklist. pdf. The 

lower courts erroneously interpreted who is even covered by the act. Ct. 

App. Opinion at A-13-14. Washington is home to thousands of service 

members stationed among seven military bases. This state has a duty to 

ensure those service members' due process is protected during judicial 

proceedings in Washington. This case demonstrates how service members 

are being systematically denied those protections and, in tum, denied due 

process. This court should accept review because Washington State courts 
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need guidance from this court on when and how to apply those 

protections. 

1. When a service member does not appear and is unrepresented, 
the stay provisions of 50 U.S.C. §521 place the burden on the court 
to appoint an attorney and grant a stay if necessary. This section is 
more specific than §522, so it controls. 

Questions of statutory construction are reviewed de novo. State v. 

Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 196, (2005). The court must 

interpret legislation consistently with its stated goals. Tunstall v. Bergeson, 

141 Wn.2d 201, 211 5 P.3d 691 (2000) citing Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri, 

117 Wn.2d 128, 140, 814 P.2d 629 (1991). The main goal is to ascertain 

the legislative intent. Sorenson v. Dahlen, 136 \Vn. App. 844, 855 149 

P.3d 394 (2006) citing Spokane County v. Glover, 2 Wn.2d 162, 169, 97 

P.2d 628 (1940). When statutes conflict, specific statutes control over 

general ones. Mason v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 166 Wn. App. 859, 868, 

271 P.3d 381 (2012). 

The Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, codified at 50, App. U.S.C. 

§ 501-597b serves two purposes: (1) to expedite national defense by 

protecting servicemembers so they could devote their entire energy to the 

defense needs of the nation and (2) to provide a temporary suspension of 

proceedings that may have an adverse effect on a servicemember' s civil 

rights during their military service. 50, App. U.S.C. §502; In reMarriage 
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of Herridge, 169 Wn. App. 290, 279 P.3d 956 (Ct. App. 2012) citing 

Engstrom v. First Nat'! Bank of Eagle Lake, 47 F.3d 1459, 1462 (5th 

Cir.l995). The provisions of the Act are "liberally construed to protect 

those who have been obliged to drop their own affairs to take up the 

burdens ofthe nation." Boone v. Lightner, 319 U.S. 561, 575 (1943) 

(interpreting the SCRA's predecessor, the Soldiers and Sailors Civil Relief 

Act). 

50, App. U.S.C. §522 (a) provides in part that when one party is a 

service member, a 90 day stay is mandatory upon application by the 

service member. The application should consist of a letter or other 

communication showing their current military duty requirements 

materially affect their ability to appear and when the servicemember will 

be available to appear. It should also include a letter or other 

communication from the service member's commanding officer which 

confirms the statement. 

This provision places at least some burden on the service member 

to apply for a stay. But, §521 places the burden on the plaintiff and on the 

court before issuing a default. A plaintiff must file an affidavit stating that 

either the defendant is not in the military or they were unable to determine 

the defendant's military status. If the defendant is in the military, no 

default judgment can be entered against him in his absence without 
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appointing an attorney. 50, App. U.S. C. § 521 (b )(2). Even if an attorney is 

appointed, the court must grant a stay of proceedings for a minimum 

period of 90 days if: ( 1) the court determines there may be a defense that 

cannot be presented in the defendant's absence or (2) defendant's 

appointed counsel has been unable to contact the defendant or determine if 

a meritorious defense exists. Id. 

If a stay, under §522, is denied, §521 will still prevent a default 

under certain circumstances. Because §521 is more specific, it controls. 

This is an issue of first impression and this court should accept review to 

resolve the conflict. 

When courts have denied an application for a stay under §522, the 

service member is usually represented or their presence does not affect the 

outcome. Herridge, 169 Wn. App. 290 (no abuse of discretion in denying 

a stay of a modification of support hearing because it required no 

testimony). Some courts have held that section 521 applies even when a 

service member had actual notice. See Harris v. Harris, 922 N.E.2d 626, 

639 (Ind. Ct. App. 2010); Price v. McBeath, 989 So.2d 444,448,460 

(Miss. Ct. App. 2008). 

It is of no moment that a service member can appear telephonically 

because nothing in the SCRA that indicates a telephonic appearance is 

sufficient to protect a service member's rights. Rather, the SCRA 
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contemplates a physical appearance at the proceedings. In re Amber M., 

110 Cal. Rptr. 3d 25, 30 (Cal. Ct. App. 2010). In addition, a stay is 

mandatory unless the court makes written findings that the service 

member is not hampered by his absence. Coburn v. Coburn, 412 So.2d 

947, 949, (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (delay in concluding litigation resulting 

from absence in military service does not justify denial of the statutory 

stay so long as there is the likelihood of injury to the civil rights of one in 

the armed services); Olsen v. Olsen, 621 N.E.2d 830 (Ohio 1993) (A 

motion to stay should not be denied without either requisite findings of 

fact or sufficient evidence in the record to warrant denial). 

During this six year dissolution, a default judgment was entered 

against Shoemaker in two separate proceedings when he was not present 

due to military service, there was no affidavit filed with the court and no 

attorney was appointed to represent him. To compound those violations, 

the trial court cited determinations from those proceedings to restrict 

Shoemaker's residential time with his son. CP at 708. 

In Shoemaker's absence from the contempt hearing, the court also 

granted retroactive child support payments in contrast to well established 

Washington law. CP at 307 (child support order 2.20, 1.1 C incorporated 

by reference); In reMarriage of Olsen, 24 Wn. App. 292,295, 600 P.2d 

690 (1979) (citing Pace v. Pace, 67 Wn.2d 640, 409 P.2d 172 (1965)). 
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Most egregious, Shoemaker was jailed as a result of this default judgment 

without a chance to cross-examine any witnesses. 

At trial, when Shoemaker was absent the first day, the trial court 

failed to require Harris to· file an affidavit and once again no attorney was 

appointed. Three separate lower court orders violated the SCRA . This is 

evidence the lowers courts need guidance on how and when to apply the 

protections afforded by the SCRA. 

2. To reguire strict compliance with the application for stay 
provisions of the SCRA is inconsistent with well-established case 
law, the federal legislative intent, and other states' interpretation of 
the Act. 

In this case the court of appeals, in reliance on Herridge, held that 

Shoemaker's application for a stay was insufficient because it lacked 

specific information. See Appendix. The Herridge court held that, "a 

servicemember must fully comply with the express language of the SCRA 

before a stay of proceedings is mandated." Herridge 169 Wn. App. 290. 

That court further held that to overlook deficiencies in the application does 

not honor the plain words of the statute or recognize congress's purpose in 

amending the act. According to the court of appeals, congress was 

concerned for opposing parties and efficient administration of judicial 
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proceedings. As a result, the 2003 amendments clearly burden 

servicemembers. Herridge, 169 Wn. App. 290. 

To interpret the SCRA this way is inconsistent with Boone v. 

Lightner, 319 U.S. 561, 575 (1943) and subsequent decisions. The court of 

appeals' analysis of the 2003 amendments is incorrect. The amendments 

do not make it more burdensome, but restrict the court's discretion. Under

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