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

V. ARGUMENT 

a. This Court should deny Mr. Shoemaker's Petition for 
Review under RAP 13.4(b) because he falls to meet his 
burden of showing this matter meets any of the four bases 
for this Court to accept Review. 

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth four conditions under which the Supreme 

Court may accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals terminating 

review of the lower court's decision. Mr. Shoemaker fails to meet his 

burden of showing that any of these bases have been met and, thus, his 

Petition for Review should be denied. 
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First, this court may accept review if the decision of the Court of 

Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. RAP 

13.4(b)(l). Here, Mr. Shoemaker provides no argument, or support for 

this proposition, thus subsection (1) is not met. 

Second, this court may accept review if the decision is in conflict 

with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Here, 

there is no such conflict cited, as none exists. Thus, subsection (2) is not 

met. 

Third, this court may accept review if a significant question oflaw 

under the Constitution ofthe State of Washington, or of the United States 

is involved. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Here, while such is alleged, it has been 

improperly framed as well as improperly applied. Thus, subsection (3) is 

not met. 

Here, the facts clearly do not support an inquiry and discussion 

regarding the SSCRA and how it is to be interpreted and/or applied in 

Washington cases. Mr. Shoemaker failed to meet the strict requirement of 

properly invoking the protections of SSCRA, which is fatal to his claim. 

In In reMarriage of Herridge, the Court states as follows: 

Congress substantially amended the Act in 2003. As 
discussed above, the SCRA now mandates that an 
application for a stay by a servicemember contain specific 
information in support of that request. 50 U.S.C.App. § 
522. Although no Washington court has yet considered the 
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issue, those courts that have assessed the effect of the 2003 
amendments have generally held that a servicemember 
must now comply with the express requirements of that 
statute in order to be entitled to a mandatory stay of 
proceedings. See, e.g., Teas v. Ferguson, No. 07-5146, 
2007 WL 4106290 (W.D.Ark.2007) (motion for stay 
denied where application did not meet statutory 
requirements); King v. Irvin, 273 Ga.App. 64, 614 S.E.2d 
190 (2005) (mandatory stay not required where no 
statement **961 from commanding officer); Bradley, 282 
Kan. 1, 137 P.3d 1030 (same); In re Walter, 234 S.W.3d 
836 (Tex.App.2007) (same). Thus, a stay of proceedings is 
mandatory only where ''the motion includes the 
information required by the statute for the court to 
determine whether a stay is needed." MARK. E. 
SULLIVAN, A judge's guide to the servicemembers civil 
relief act, AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION FAMILY 
LAW SECTION, at p. 3, available at: 
http://apps.americanbar.org/family/military/scrajudgesguid 
ecldist. pdf (last visited June 18, 20 12). 

In reMarriage of Herridge, 169 Wn. App. 290, 299-300, 279 P.3d 956 

(2012). 

Clearly, Mr. Shoemaker failed to follow these requirements and, 

thus, was not entitled to a mandatory stay of proceedings on that basis 

alone. Mr. Shoemaker also fails to assert anywhere how his military 

service "materially affected" his ability to defend himself in this matter. 

Frankly, the ability to "defend" himself should be the end of the inquiry, 

as it was Mr. Shoemaker who initiated these proceedings while on active 

duty, which will be discussed further below. It was he who initiated and 
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pursued the numerous actions, motions, appeals, etc. He "defended" 

nothing. 

Finally, fourth, this court may accept review of a decision of the 

Court of Appeal if the issue involves an issue "of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 

13.4(b)(4). Again, while such is alleged by Mr. Shoemaker, it has been 

improperly framed as well as improperly applied by appellant. 

If the appellant had properly invoked the SSCRA and the military 

had not accommodated his ability to appear and defend himself and his 

participation in this matter had been adversely materially affected and the 

Court proceeded to hear the matter and enter its ruling by default, then the 

appellant may have a basis for meeting this subsection. He did not. 

Therefore, this is simply not the case for this Court to "discuss and instruct 

lower Courts" regarding the proper application of the SSCRA and its 

laudable protections. Such is simply not the case here, as the protections 

were both met as well as inapplicable with Mr. Shoemaker being the party 

pursuing the various matters, of which this matter is but one. 

Based upon the appellant's failure to meet any of the requirements 

of RAP 13.4(b), this Court should deny Mr. Shoemaker's Petition for 

Review. 
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b. This Court should deny review because the Superior Court 
ruling, and the Court of Appeals Decision, correctly 
determined that the protections of the SSCRA were met. 

The Court in Herridge discussed the policy and purpose supporting 

the SSCRA where it stated as follows: 

The purpose of the SCRA "is to suspend enforcement of 
civil liabilities of persons in the military service of the 
United States in order to enable such persons to devote 
their entire energy to the defense needs of the Nation.n 
Engstrom v. First Nat'/ Bank of Eagle Lake, 47 F.3d 1459, 
1462 (5th Cir.1995); 50 U.S.C. § 502. The provisions of the 
Act are to be "liberally construed.n Engstrom, 47 F.3d at 
1462. Nevertheless, the Act "is not to be used as a sword 
against persons with legitimate claims,n and a court must 
give "equitable consideration of the rights of parties to the 
end that their respective interests may be properly 
conserved.n Engstrom, 47 F.3d at 1462; see also Runge v. 
Fleming, 181 F. Supp. 224, 228 (D.C. Iowa 1960) ((noting 
that the Act is not intended as an '"instrument for the 
oppression of opposing parties'") (quoting State ex rel. 
Swanson v. Heaton, 237 Iowa 564, 566, 22 N.W.2d 815 
(1946))). 

He"idge, 169 Wn. App. at 297. Here, the purposes of the Act were met 

Mr. Shoemaker not only ''received notice of the action" he is the party 

who brought it. It is clear that his now attempting to invoke the protection 

of the SSCRA is being used exactly as was described as being improper 

by the Courts above; specifically, using it as a "sword" and as an 

"instrument of oppression of opposing parties." 

As discussed above, Mr. Shoemaker had the duty to meet the 

specific statutory requirements in his application for a stay of proceedings 
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and failed to do so. The court in Herridge goes on to further describe the 

servicemember's responsibilities to be afforded the protections of the Act 

where it states: 

Where a servicemember has received notice of an action or 
proceeding, a stay may be obtained "[a]t any stage before 
final judgment in a civil action or proceeding" either "upon 
application by the servicemember'' or by the court "on its 
own motion." 50 U.S.C. § 522(b)(1). In order to obtain a 
stay by application, however, the application must include 
the following: 
(A) A letter or other communication setting forth facts 

stating the manner in which current military duty 
requirements materially affect the servicemember's 
ability to appear and stating a date when the 
servicemember will be available to appear. 

(B) A letter or other communication from the 
servicemember' s commanding officer stating that the 
servicemember' s current military duty prevents 
appearance and that military leave is not authorized for 
the servicemember at the time of the letter. 

50 U.S.C.App. § 522(b)(2). Where a servicemember has 
made proper application for a stay of proceedings, a 90-day 
stay is mandatory. 50 U.S.C.App. § 522(b)(l). It is within a 
court's discretion to issue a stay where the servicemember 
has not complied with the provisions of the statute. In re 
Marriage of Bradley, 282 K.an. 1, 7, 137 P.3d 1030 (2006). 

Herridge, 169 Wn. App. at 298. In Herridge, the court described the 

servicemembers' attempts to invoke the act as follows: 

Cecil asserts that he complied with the requirements of the 
Act by (1) explaining in writing that he would be 
unavailable to appear at the November 2009 hearing 
because he would ''be deployed at that time over seas [sic 
]" and (2) attaching a copy of a letter from his commanding 
officer indicating that Cecil would be "deployed November 
2009 to June 2010." However, Cecil does not dispute that 
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his letter to the court did not state a date upon which he 
would be available to appear. Nor does he contend that the 
letter from his commanding officer apprised the trial court 
of the availability of military leave to Cecil at the time of 
the letter. Instead, he asserts that, pursuant to a liberal 
construction of SCRA, his request for a stay was sufficient. 

Herridge, 169 Wn. App. at 298. The Herridge Court therefore 

found that: 

Cecil is correct that, pursuant to a former version of the 
SCRA, a bare assertion of active military service was, in 
some instances, determined to be sufficient for a mandatory 
*299 stay.8 See, e.g., Parker v. Parker, 207 Ga. 588, 589, 
63 S.E.2d 366 (1951). Such a stay of proceedings was 
required where (1) the servicemember (or a person on his 
or her behalf) applied for the stay and (2) the court 
determined that the servicemember' s ability to prosecute or 
defend the action was, in fact, materially affected by reason 
of his or her military service. Former 50 U.S.C. App. § 521 
(1940). The former statute was silent regarding what proof 
was necessary to demonstrate an adverse and material 
effect on the servicemember. Although a mere showing of 
active military duty was deemed insufficient, Boone v. 
Lightner, 319 U.S. 561, 575, 63 S.Ct. 1223, 87 L.Ed. 1587 
(1943), stays were generally granted where the 
servicemember produced some evidence establishing that 
the duties of military service would have a significant 
effect on his or her ability to comply with the legal 
obligation in question. See, e.g., Chaffey v. Chajfey, 59 
Cal.2d 792, 796-98, 31 Cal.Rptr. 325, 382 P.2d 365 
(1963). 

Herridge, 169 Wn. App. at 298. 

The Herridge Court held that strict compliance with the statute was 

required and such requirement provided a fair balance between the 
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competing interests of the servicemember and the other party to an action, 

where it stated: 

"Moreover, although the primary purpose of the SCRA is 
the protection of servicemembers, the new requirements 
(which clearly burden servicemembers) reflect Congress' 
concerns with the rights of opposing parties and the 
efficient administration of judicial proceedings. As a result 
of the 2003 amendments, a servicem.ember must indicate 
his or her future availability for further proceedings and 
must provide actual proof that he or she is truly unavailable 
to defend or prosecute an action as a result of his or her 
military duties. 50 U.S.C. App. §522(b). 

Herridge, 169 Wn. App. at 301. 

Not only did Mr. Shoemaker fail to properly invoke the protections 

of the SSCRA, he would not have qualified for them had he properly 

attempted to invoke them. The SSCRA requires the servicemember to 

show that his service materially affects his ability to defend himself. 

Presumably it requires proof of a material adverse effect, which is not 

alleged by Mr. Shoemaker, nor could it be found that such existed. In fact, 

the military transferred Mr. Shoemaker back to JBLM specifically to assist 

him and to allow him to "defend" this matter, which HE brought 

The vast amount of Petitions, Motions, Objections, etc. brought by 

Mr. Shoemaker, both with and without counsel as well as from Japan as 

well as after being transferred to Washington clearly show he was fully 

able to pursue this matter and that he was not materially affected by his 
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service. He prepared and filed matters in other states as well as the 

Federal Court and at several levels ofthe Comts in Washington. How can 

he possibly argue he was somehow detrimentally affected by his service? 

He simply cannot. 

Yet another reason Mr. Shoemaker's Petition should be denied is 

because the SSCRA, as amended, now allows for a servicemember to 

waive the protections of the Act. See 50 App. U.S.C.A. § 517. Here, 

while his waiver is contemplated to be effected at the time a 

servicemember enters into a contract, we argue it should be analogized 

and apply in this matter, where Mr. Shoemaker was the party who initiated 

proceedings (when he Vacated the Order Dismissing his prior Petition for 

Dissolution). He was the party who obtained the initial Ex Parte Order 

removing Ms. Harris from the residence as well as who filed numerous 

motions, petitions, etc. in many courts in and outside of the State of 

Washington. To allow a servicemember to file all these actions and 

motions, etc. and then to claim they need "protection" because they are on 

active duty strains credulity. 

Throughout Mr. Shoemaker's Petition for Review, he uses cases 

decided based upon the original SSCRA to support his position. Mr. 

Shoemaker repeatedly asserts requirements and protections referred to in 

cases prior to the SSCRA being substantially amended in 2003. In re 
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Marriage of Herridge clearly discusses the application of the current Act 

and the servicemembers' responsibilities to properly comply with its 

requirements before being afforded its protections. To allow Mr. 

Shoemaker to Vacate the Dismissal and renew his Petition for Dissolution, 

obtain temporary custody, and then only after losing custody and losing 

appeals in Washington as well as filing and pursuing actions in Utah and 

the Federal Courts, claim he was materially affected by his active duty 

service and should be afforded the protections of the SSCRA, makes a 

mockery of the intention of this laudable Act. 

c. The Superior Court correctly restricted Mr. Shoemaker's 
residential time with the parties' son under RCW 
26.09.191. 

RCW 26.09.191 requires at: 

(2)(a} The parent's residential time with the child shall be 
limited if it is found that the parent has engaged in any of 
the following conduct: (i) Willful abandonment that 
continues for an extended period of time or substantial 
refusal to perform parenting functions; (ii) physical, sexual, 
or a pattern of emotional abuse of a child; (iii} a history of 
acts of domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(1) 
or an assault or sexual assault which causes grievous bodily 
harm or the fear of such hann; or (iv) the parent has been 
convicted as an adult of a sex offense ... 

RCW 26.09.191(2)(a). The trial court found that there was ample 

evidence to support a restriction of Mr. Shoemaker's residential time with 

his son. (CP 680- 687). In its Memorandum dated May 22, 2012, the trial 
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court relied upon: temporary restraining orders entered earlier in the case; 

Mr. Shoemaker's failure to return the parties' son to Ms. Harris after 

scheduled visits (one incident resulted in Mr. Shoemaker's failure to 

return the parties' son to Ms. Shoemaker for over two weeks); Mr. 

Shoemaker harassed Ms. Harris; Mr. Shoemaker threatened to move back 

in with Ms. Harris, and on occasion, would refuse to leave Ms. Harris' 

residence; Mr. Shoemaker's behavior became increasingly "odd, hostile, 

and bizarre;" the Air Force issued a No Contact Order due to Mr. 

Shoemaker's behavior; Mr. Shoemaker was found in contempt for 

violating the parenting plan and restraint provisions; Mr. Shoemaker failed 

to cooperate with child support orders; and the Air Force commander 

issued two reports which found Mr. Shoemaker's behavior fit the criteria 

for "child emotional maltreatment" as well as "adult emotional 

maltreatment." (CP 680 - 687). 

The Final Parenting Plan entered on May 22, 2012, listed the 

following as limiting factors in support of residential restriction: willful 

abandonment; physical, sexual, or a pattern of emotional abuse; and a 

history of acts of domestic violence. The order lists several other factors 

including: neglect or substantial nonperformance of parenting functions; a 

long-term emotional or physical impairment which interferes with the 

performance of parenting functions as defined by RCW 29.09.004; the 
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absence or substantial impainnent of emotional ties between the parent 

and child; and the abusive use of conflict by the parent which creates the 

danger of serious damage to the child's psychological development. (CP 

689-694). 

The trial court's findings, as reflected in the Memorandum 

Decision, as well as the Final Parenting Plan fully supports the restrictions 

on Mr. Shoemaker's time and contact with his son under RCW 26.09.191. 

I) CONCLUSION 

The burden is on Mr. Shoemaker to prove to this Court that his 

Petition for Review falls within the provisions of RAP 13 .4(b) and he has 

failed to do so. His petition for Review should be denied. 

Further, Mr. Shoemaker failed to properly invoke the protections 

of the SSCRA, which is fatal to his request for relief. But, more 

importantly, he fails to show how his military service adversely 

"materially affected" his ability to address this matter. Both Comts below 

accurately and correctly found Mr. Shoemaker's allegations that the

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